CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FOR STATE OWNED ENTERPRISES



PRIVATIZATION AND CORPORATIZATION BOARD MINISTRY OF FINANCE



PRIVATIZATION AND CORPORATIZATION BOARD

MINISTRY OF FINANCE

MALDIVES

1ST MAY 2019



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACCRONYMS AND SYNONYMS | 9 |
|---|----|
| Foreword by the Minister of Finance, Mr. Ibrahim Ameer | 11 |
| Foreword by the President of The Privatization and | |
| Corporatization Board, Mr. Mohamed Nizar | 13 |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 15 |
| What is Corporate Governance? | 15 |
| Why Corporate Governance? | 16 |
| The Purpose of the Corporate Governance Code for SOEs | 17 |
| Nature of the Code's provisions; Comply or Explain | 18 |
| Relationship between the legal rules and the Code | 19 |
| Applicability and Effective Date of the Code | 19 |
| Key Definitions of the Code | 20 |
| CHAPTER 2: THE BOARD | 24 |
| 1. Composition of the Board | 25 |
| 2. Nomination of New/ Re-election of Existing Board | |
| Members | 26 |
| 3. Role of the Chairperson of the Board | 27 |
| 4. Role of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) / Managing | |
| Director (MD) | 29 |
| 5. Role of the Independent and Non-Executive Directors | 30 |
| 6. Role and Duties of the Board as a Whole | 32 |
| 7. Board Meetings | 36 |

| 8. Training and Development of Directors | 37 |
|---|----|
| 9. Code of Conduct | 38 |
| 10. Conflicts of Interest | 39 |
| 11. Board's Evaluation | 40 |
| 12. Company Secretary | 40 |
| CHAPTER 3: BOARD COMMITTEES | 43 |
| 13. Board Committees | 43 |
| 14. Board Committees' Operations | 45 |
| 15. Audit Committee | 46 |
| 16. Other Board Committees | 49 |
| CHAPTER 4: OWNERSHIP FUNCTIONS OF THE | |
| GOVERNMENT AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE SOES | 50 |
| 17. The Government as Owner | 50 |
| CHAPTER 5: COMPETENCES OF GENERAL | |
| SHAREHOLDER'S MEETING AND SHAREHOLDER'S RIGHTS | 54 |
| 18. The Annual General Meeting | 55 |
| 19. Notice and Agenda of the Annual General Meetings | 56 |
| 20. Submitting and Asking Questions at the Annual General | |
| Meeting | 57 |
| 21. Dividend Policy | 57 |
| 22. Other Matters | 57 |
| CHAPTER 6: RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL | |
| AND INTERNAL AUDIT | 58 |
| 23. Risk Management | 58 |
| 24. Internal Control | 60 |
| 25. Internal Audit | 61 |
| 26. External Auditor | 65 |
| 27. Code of Ethics | 65 |
| 28. Code of Conduct | 66 |
| CHAPTER 7: INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING | 68 |
| 29. Environment | 69 |
| 30. Health and Safety | 69 |
| 31 Social issues | 69 |

| CH/ | APTER 8: DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY | 70 |
|-----|---|----|
| | 32. Reporting and Disclosure | 70 |
| | 33 Annual Report | 72 |
| | 34. Corporate Governance Report | 74 |
| | 35. Company's Web Site | 75 |
| | 36. Disclosure by the Government | 76 |
| | 37. Funding | 77 |
| CH/ | APTER 9: STAKEHOLDERS | 78 |
| | 38. Considering Stakeholders' Interests | 78 |
| | 39. Identification of Stakeholders | 79 |
| | 40. Policies and Procedures for dealing with Stakeholders | 79 |
| | 41. Access to Company's Information | 80 |
| | 42. Interaction with Company's Stakeholders | 80 |
| | | |



ACCRONYMS AND SYNONYMS

AOA Articles of Association

AGM Annual General Meeting

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

EGM Extraordinary General Meeting

MD Managing Director

MOA Memorandum of Association

PCB Privatization and Corporatization Board

SOE State Owned Enterprises



FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER OF FINANCE, MR. IBRAHIM AMEER



Dear Readers

It gives me great pleasure to introduce the Corporate Governance Code for State Owned Enterprises, a first of its kind and a crucial code, in line with the government's pledge for transparency and accountability among state owned entities.

The code was prepared by the Privatization and Corporatization Board and Ministry of Finance, under close collaboration with the World Bank. Hence, I would like to thank the World Bank, for their expertise and contribution, for without it; this code would not have been possible.

The code is a framework that would allow for a more transparent and accountable running of state enterprises. It lays the groundwork for SOE ownership, SOE performance monitoring, fiscal risk assessment, and outlines the governance of SOEs. While these are key areas that would enhance the effective running of SOEs, the road forward should be a culmination of carefully optimized steps towards solution-oriented reform.

Maldives' SOEs play a crucial role in the country's economy, contributing 50% of the GDP making up 18% of the total workforce. These entities represent public services across key sectors, such as water, electricity, sewerage, telecommunication and tourism, and are instrumental for the provision of essential public services to the people across the nation. Thus, the implementation of this code is imminently crucial to rid SOEs of any possible corruption and fraud, which these entities have previously been plagued with.

This responsibility lies in the management and staff of SOEs, and I hope that with this code, SOE accountability would be efficiently monitored, and would work towards providing public services to the nation, more transparently and sincerely.

I would like to acknowledge the hard work put in by the Privatization and Corporatization Board, especially the President of PCB, Mr. Mohamed Nizar, Members of the board, the Secretary General of the PCB Secretariat, Mr. Ahmed Siraj, Financial Consultant of PCB, Mr. Mohamed Azad and their team for the diligent work in formulating the code. I would also like to acknowledge the feedback provided by the Anti-Corruption Commission, the Auditor General's Office and the Capital Market Development Authority, whose input drastically enhanced the Code.

The implementation of the Code coincides with the -100 day pledges of the Government of President Ibrahim Mohamed Solih, towards a more transparent and accountable financial system. The work ahead is paved with uncertainties, but I hope that with this code, the country will prosper into a new era of clean fiscal prosperity.

Sincerely,

IBRAHIM AMFFR

MINISTER OF FINANCE

FOREWORD BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE PRIVATIZATION AND CORPORATIZATION BOARD, MR. MOHAMED NIZAR



Dear Readers

The formulation of the Corporate Governance Code for State Owned Enterprises marks a major milestone for the work of the Privatization and Corporatization Board, towards its efforts in monitoring and evaluation of SOEs in the Maldives.

This Code was formulated through the hard work and dedication of the PCB, over three years, under the guidance of the World Bank. Developed after an initial pilot project run by the World Bank in 2016, this code will serve as a framework to efficiently govern SOEs, making their work more transparent and accountable.

I would like to acknowledge World Bank for their expertise and knowledge sharing mechanisms in developing the code, as well as the valuable feedback given by the Anti-Corruption Commission, Auditor General's Office, and the Capital Market Development Authority. The code is the fruit of the dedicated hard work by the team at PCB, hence, I would like to express my gratitude for their persistent work, especially the Secretary General of PCB Secretariat, Mr. Ahmed Siraj and the Financial Consultant Mr. Mohamed Azad.

The effective implementation of the code would enhance domestic growth and development through establishing better shareholder and creditor rights, encourage the creation of deeper and larger capital markets thereby increasing access to external financing for SOEs, improve internal operational performance, help build better market reputation and validate values of transparency, disclosure and accountability.

While the PCB is tasked with the implementation of the code along with the monitoring and evaluation of the adherence to the code by SOEs, the responsibility of putting it to practice lies in the management and staff of SOEs. I hope that the SOEs will take this code as an essence of their daily and long-term running of the business towards making SOEs more efficient and prosperous.

With the implementation of the code, we hope to encourage investment and sustainable growth, fight corruption, promote competitiveness by stimulating productivity & innovation while reducing waste and foster transparent relations between SOEs, the State and the citizens.

Sincerely,

MOHAMED NIZAR

PRESIDENT OF THE PRIVATIZATION AND CORPORATIZATION BOARD

INTRODUCTION

WHAT IS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE?

Corporate governance ensures that companies operate efficiently, transparently and in an accountable manner. It provides guidance on how the objectives of the company are set and achieved, how risk is monitored and assessed, and how performance is optimised.

There is no universal definition of corporate governance. One of the simplest and most effective definitions can be found in the Cadbury Report 1992. Here, corporate governance is defined as "Corporate Governance is the system by which companies are directed and controlled".

According to the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, the global recognised standards for corporate governance, "Corporate governance is one key element in improving economic efficiency and growth as well as enhancing investor confidence. Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company's management, its Board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined". Further "Good corporate governance should provide proper

incentives for the Board and management to pursue objectives that are in the interests of the company and its shareholders and should facilitate effective monitoring."

Good corporate governance allows companies to increase their competitiveness, economic efficiency and growth, to attract the capital required for economic growth and reduce the cost of such capital, improve operational decision-making and the company's reputation, as well as to promote protection of and cooperation with stakeholders who have a legitimate interest in company's performance.

WHY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE?

SOEs are major players in the Maldivian context. In the Maldives, SOEs are the main providers of key public services, including public utilities. Hence, SOEs form one of the largest sectors of the economy in the Maldives and are important contributors to national development. On a regional level, SOEs are key players in large cross-border infrastructure projects, which are crucial to realising regional integration goals and to achieving what is considered to be an important development objective. This means that their operations have an impact on citizens' everyday life and on the competitiveness of the rest of the economy. SOEs are increasingly prominent actors in international markets. Ensuring that they operate in a sound competitive and regulatory environment is crucial for maintaining an open trade and investment environment that underpins economic growth.

SOEs are different from private sector corporations in a number of important ways. They are a means by which government delivers on some of their social programmes, which means that often SOEs will have social objectives as well as economic ones. Members on the Boards of SOEs also tend to change at a greater frequency than Board members on private sector corporations, which means there is a question of

continuity. Also, and most importantly, the relationship between the Board of the SOE and its 'parent' Ministry has to be managed. In a world of growing inter-dependence and changing technology, SOEs need to "re-engineer" to maintain a high level of operational efficiency consistent with their mandate.

THE PURPOSE OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE FOR SOES

The aim of this Corporate Governance Code (Code) is to ensure SOEs operate efficiently and improve the performance of SOEs through greater accountability and transparency, improved Boardroom practices, internal controls, internal audit and risk management. The Code also addresses additional issues peculiar to the corporate governance of SOEs: specifically, the need for the Government to improve the ways in which it exercises ownership and governance functions over SOEs.

The Code embodies the internationally agreed standard of corporate governance principles to encourage companies to create value through entrepreneurship, innovation and development and ensure implementation of effective control systems commensurate with the risks involved

The Corporate Governance principles are built on four core values:

• Fairness: The corporate governance framework should protect shareholder rights and ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including minority and foreign shareholders. All shareholders should have the opportunity to obtain effective redressal for violations of their rights.

- Responsibility: The corporate governance framework should recognise the rights of stakeholders as established by law and encourage active co-operation between corporations and stakeholders in creating wealth, jobs, and the sustainability of financially sound enterprises.
- Transparency: The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all material matters regarding the company, including its financial situation, performance, ownership, and governance structure.
- Accountability: The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, the effective monitoring of management by the Board, and the Board's accountability to the company and shareholders.

NATURE OF THE CODE'S PROVISIONS; COMPLY OR EXPLAIN

The Code is developed to suit the specific needs of SOEs of the Maldives. The Code sets forth recommendations with respect to corporate governance best practices on issues which are not required in legislation or are not regulated at all.

SOEs in case of implementation of this Code, are required to prepare an annual Corporate Governance Statement (CG Statement) and attach it to their Annual Report. In the CG Statement, companies are required to

clearly state whether they comply with the Code's recommendations or explain why they have not followed a particular recommendation.

If there is a conflict between this Code and any other legislation which is specific for that SOE, then priority must be given to that legislation.

The Companies' responsibility to annually report on their level of compliance with the Code on a "Comply or Explain" basis, is implemented through the publication of Annual Reports in the web sites of the Companies.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE LEGAL RULES AND THE CODE

The purpose of the Code is not to replace existing laws or regulations, but to set standards of corporate governance in line with international best practice, taking into account the Maldivian practices and framework. The Code may be revised upon necessity.

APPLICABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE CODE

The Code applies to all SOEs, regardless of the nature of their business with an exception to the SOEs listed in the Maldives Stock Exchange. The Code came into effect on the 1st day of May 2019 and all the SOEs must comply with the Code from the date it becomes effective.

KEY DEFINITIONS OF THE CODE

BANKS

means a person holding a license or permit under Law No. 2010/24 (Maldives Banking Act) to engage in the banking business, all or one or part of banking activities listed in section 25 of Maldives Banking Act.

BOARD

This refers to the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board, a governing body of the Company appointed under Law No 96/10 (The Companies Act) or any other relevant law of the Maldives.

COMPANY OR COMPANIES

Under this Code, Company or Companies means state owned enterprises and state owned banks, insurance companies and investment funds with the status of legal entity, to whom the Code applies.

FIT AND PROPER

- (1) A person who is 'fit and proper' should be financially solvent, should have integrity, good reputation and professional competence and face no conflict of interest.
- (2) The Board shall, in assessing a person's fitness and properness, take into consideration the following:
 - i. Financial status or solvency
 - ii. Reputation, character and integrity
 - iii. Education or other qualifications, or experience, having regard to the nature of the functions to be performed or the diverse

experience and expertise needed to suit the specific requirements of the company.

DIRECTORS

are persons who are appointed to the Board and (the relationships set out below are not intended to be exhaustive):

- (1) Have not held, or whose immediate family members have not held, during the last one year, a key position in the company, such as CEO, General Manager, or any immediate employment position; or
- (2) Have not or their immediate family members have not, during the last 1 (one) year had any substantial financial dealings, including the receipt of remuneration, commissions, professional fees, payment for goods and services etc. with the company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

are persons who are appointed to the Board and who are not currently employed by the company.

RELATED PARTY

For the purposes of this Code, related party means a person who is related to another person in accordance with any of the following provisions:

a) Natural persons are related if, (i) one is the spouse of the other; (ii) the relationship between them is that of parent and child, brothers and sisters (including half brothers and sisters); (iii) they are partners in a partnership to which the Partnership Act of Maldives applies.

- b) Companies are related parties if they are associated bodies corporate in which greater than 5% of the shareholding is owned/ controlled by the other company.
- c) A natural person and a company are associated persons if, (i) the natural person directly or indirectly holds or can control greater than 5% shareholding of the company; (ii) the natural person is a director of the company or of another company that is associated to the body corporate.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

means personnel of the company who are members of its core management team excluding Board of Directors. Normally, this would comprise all members of management one level below the functional directors. including all functional heads.

STAKEHOLDER

means a party that has interest in the operations and results of the company. The term "stakeholder" encompasses a number of parties who are interested in the success and the mode of operation of a company. It includes its employees, customers, members of the local community who are keen to ensure that their environment is not polluted; local government and self-government bodies; local businesses that sell goods and services to the company; and the businesses which the company does business with, both suppliers and distributors; and, of course, creditors and debtors.

STATE OWNED **ENTERPRISES**

is a company where the State owns 50% or more of the shares. Also, by virtue of the distribution/ dispersion of shareholding or by contract concluded between the shareholders are controlled by the State. For avoidance of doubt, publicly listed companies shall not fall within the definition of State Owned Enterprises for the purpose of applicability of this Code.

SUBSIDIARY

A business company is a subsidiary business company if another (or principal) business company or partnership by virtue of dominant participation in its equity capital or in accordance with a contract concluded between them has the possibility of determining decisions taken by such a company.

CHAPTER II

THE BOARD

All the SOEs must be headed by a well-functioning effective Board that manage and control the company and are responsible to the shareholders for the long-term success of the company as the Board is the link between shareholders and the company.

The Board's role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the company within a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board should set the company's strategic aims, ensure that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the company to meet its objectives and review management performance. The Board should set the company's values and standards and ensure that its obligations to its shareholders and others are understood and met. All directors must act in what they consider to be the best interests of the company, consistent with their statutory duties. All directors should be able to allocate sufficient time to the company to discharge their responsibilities effectively and add value to the Board.

The chairperson is responsible for leadership of the Board. He or she should ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues. The chairperson should promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of directors. The chairperson is responsible for ensuring that the directors receive accurate, timely and clear information and for ensuring effective communication with shareholders.

1 COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

- (1) The size and composition of the Board should be adequate to ensure effective corporate governance, necessary pluralism, productive and constructive discussions, prompt and rational decisions and effective organisation of the work of its committees.
- (2) Crucially, all members of the Board should be individuals of integrity who [can] bring a blend of knowledge, expertise, skills, objectivity, experience and commitment to the Board.
- (3) All board members, including any public officials, should be nominated based on qualifications and have equivalent legal responsibilities.
- (4) Non-Executive Board members should comprise at least one-half of the Board, and preferably the majority of them being Independent Directors.
- (5) The Board should have an appropriate balance of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors to ensure unbiased and diverse advice is brought to the Company. Also, to ensure that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board's decision-making.
- (6) Non-Executive Board members should comprise at least one-half of the Board, and preferably the majority of them being Independent Directors.
- (7) The Board of Directors' duties and responsibilities in running the Board on one hand, and in running the SOE's business on the other hand, should best be met by keeping the roles of the Board's

- Chairperson and the CEO separate, and by achieving a balance of power and authority within the Board so that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making or influence.
- It is essential that the Chairperson of the Board to be a Non-Executive Director or Independent Director to ensure satisfactory performance within a framework of good governance to serve the interests of all the stakeholders of the company.
- (9) All Boards should have Managing Director/CEO as a Board Director.
- (10) The Chairperson and the Managing Director/CEO of the company must be two separate persons as a corner stone of good governance and to ensure an appropriate balance of power and increased accountability.
- (11) All boards should ensure that no elected officer serve on the board and that non- executive members have the necessary commercial and financial experience to serve the Board.

NEW/ RE-ELECTION OF EXISTING BOARD MEMBERS

(1) The Board of SOEs will be appointed as per the Policy passed by the Privatisation and Corporatisation Board (PCB) under S12 of the Privatisation and Corporatisation of State Businesses and their Monitoring and Evaluation Act (Act No. 2013/3).

3 ROLE OF THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

- 11 The Chairperson of the Board should be Non-Executive, preferably an Independent Director.
- [2] The Chairperson of the Board should lead the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and should have specific responsibilities to include:
 - (a) setting the agenda for Board meetings;
 - (b) ensuring that the Directors of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear information to enable them to reach informed decisions:
 - (c) encouraging constructive relations between the Board and Management;
 - (d) facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive directors in particular, during and outside Board meetings;
 - (e) encouraging constructive relations between Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors;
 - (f) maintaining sound relations with the company's shareholders and ensuring that the principles of effective communication and pertinent disclosure are followed:
 - (g) when necessary, in co-ordination with other board members, act as the primary point of contact between the enterprise and the ownership entity.
 - (h) representing the Board in AGM and other communications

with shareholders and stakeholders;

- (i) overseeing the agenda for general shareholders' meetings;
- (j) ensuring that new directors receive a full, formal and tailored induction on joining the Board and that all directors continually update their skills and the knowledge and familiarity with the company required to fulfil their role both on the Board and on Board committees;
- (k) assessing and where necessary, implementing training programmes for directors;
- (I) ensuring that monitoring and evaluation of Board and director appraisals are carried out and reported to PCB annually;
- (m) promoting high standards of corporate governance, overseeing compliance by the company with this Code and signing the Corporate Governance Statement to be attached to the Company's Annual Report; and
- (n) overseeing the compliance by the company with the relevant laws and regulations.
- (3) Meetings of the Board and of Board committees should be scheduled in advance by the chairperson to enable directors to attend each meeting.
- (4) The Chairperson of the Board should ensure that issues discussed at the Board committees are reported to the Board and any committee recommendations are considered for approval by the Board. For this purpose, the Chairperson of the Board should give the floor to the Chairperson of each Board's committee for a short presentation.
- The Chairperson of the Board should not unilaterally issue policies without consulting with the Board as a whole with full frank and

discussions being completed.

The Chairperson of the Board should not interfere with the day to day operations of the company.

4 ROLE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) / MANAGING DIRECTOR (MD)

- The title, function and role of the CEO/MD must be separate from that of the Chairperson.
- [2] Important functions that the CEO/MD should fulfil are to:
 - (a) develop and recommend to the Board a long-term vision and strategy for the company that will generate satisfactory levels of shareholder value and positive, reciprocal relations with relevant stakeholders:
 - (b) develop and recommend to the Board annual business plans and budgets that support the company's long-term strategy. In the development of these plans, it is essential that the CEO/MD ensures a proper assessment of the risks under a variety of possible or likely scenarios is undertaken and presented to the Board (whether through a separately constituted Board Risk Committee or through an Executive Risk Management Committee);
 - (c) strive consistently to achieve the company's financial and operating goals and objectives, and ensure that the day-to-day business affairs of the company are appropriately managed and monitored; and

- (d) serve as the chief spokesperson for the company on all operational and day to day matters. The Chairperson and CEO/MD should discuss and agree with the Board the division of responsibilities for communication to shareholders and other stakeholders. It is important that the CEO/MD and other key officers attend AGM and be prepared to present material operational developments to the meeting.
- The CEO/MD should maintain a positive and ethical work climate conducive to attracting, retaining and motivating a diverse group of top-quality employees at all levels of the company. In addition, it is incumbent on the CEO/MD to foster a corporate culture that promotes ethical practices, rejects corrupt practices, offers equal opportunities, encourages individual integrity, and meets social responsibility objectives and imperatives.
- (4) The CEO/MD should be responsible for implementation of Board policies and should inform the Board on the progress in implementing the policies.

5 ROLE OF THE INDEPENDENT AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

[1] Independent and Non-Executive Directors of the Board should explicitly assume fully the responsibilities of the stewardship of the company on behalf of the Government, other shareholders and the public. It has two principle functions in its stewardship of the

- company; to lead the company and to oversee the management and operations of the company.
- The Independent and Non-Executive Directors must meet at least once a year (informally) without the presence of Management and Executive Directors.
- (3) The Independent and Non-Executive Directors must exercise the utmost good faith, honesty and integrity in all their dealings with or on behalf of the company and must act independently of any outside fetter or instruction.
- [4] Independent and Non-Executive Directors of the Board have a statutory duty of loyalty to the SOE devoid of conflict of interest. They are legally accountable for breach of their duties. Their responsibilities include:
 - (a) a fiduciary duty to perform their duties in good faith and in a manner that they believe to be in the best interests of the company, shareholders, other stakeholders and the public, and to exercise the degree of skill and care that may be reasonably expected of a person of his/her knowledge or experience;
 - (b) all board members have the legal obligation to act in the best interest of the enterprise and to treat all shareholders equitably. The collective and individual liability of board members should be clearly stated. There should not be any difference between the liabilities of different board members, whether they are nominated by the state or any other shareholders or stakeholders.
 - (c) a fiduciary duty of loyalty to the SOE avoiding any conflict of interest, and acting in a manner which is not reckless or grossly negligent; and;
 - (d) a fiduciary duty to ensure that the company and its officers and staff comply with the law and all relevant Statutes and Regulations (including the Accounting and Audits Standards).

- Review all relevant Board papers to acquire a thorough understanding of the company's business and Management's performance.
- (6) Constructively challenge the company's business directions and Management's performance.
- Non-Executive and Independent Directors should be judicious in the number of directorships they accept, in order to ensure that they do full justice to their onerous and demanding responsibilities as Board members.
- Develop proposals on the long-term strategy of the company.
- (9) Formulate or approve, monitor and review corporate strategy, within the framework of the overall corporate objectives.
- (10) Review the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting performance.

6 ROLE AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD AS A WHOLE

- (1) The Board must always act in the best interest of the company and shareholders as a whole.
- (2) The division of responsibility between Chairperson and Managing Director/CEO must be clearly established and set out in writing by the Board.
- [3] Functional Role Clarity between Board of Directors and Management: A clear definition of the roles and the division

of responsibilities between the Board and the Management is necessary to enable the Board to effectively perform its role. The Board should have a formal statement of Board Charter/Code of ethics which clearly defines the roles and responsibilities of the Board and individual Directors.

- (4) The Board should commit themselves effectively to their responsibilities.
- (5) The Board should ensure they have sufficient time to attend and contribute to Board meetings.
- (6) The Board must define its roles and responsibilities. In addition to the responsibilities provided by Companies Act and other relevant laws, the Board of Directors should be responsible for:
 - (a) ensuring a formal and transparent nomination process for directors;
 - (b) determining company's purpose, strategy and values;
 - (c) monitoring the effectiveness of the governance practices under which the company operates and propose changes where needed;
 - (d) overseeing the process of disclosures and communications to shareholders and stakeholders;
 - (e) setting the company's values and standards, ensuring that obligations to shareholders and stakeholders are understood and met;
 - (f) adopting internal procedures and regulations for the conduct of company's affairs;
 - (g) ensuring that appropriate systems of internal control are in

- place, in particular, systems for monitoring risk, financial and accounting control;
- (h) overseeing compliance with relevant laws and regulations, this Code and the company's by-laws;
- (i) periodically reviewing compliance reports of all laws applicable to the company, prepared by the company as well as steps taken by the company to rectify instances of non-compliances;
- (j) setting performance objectives and evaluating the performance for the company and management and approving the management remuneration connected with corporate performance. The evaluation is undertaken according to a policy and procedures approved by the Board;
- (k) establishing technology and information systems sufficient to operate the company efficiently and effectively;
- (I) establishing corporate and fiscal policies and ensuring the major investments needed to achieve company's objectives and increase the value of the company;
- (m) monitoring the implementation and overall development of the corporate business strategy and corporate performance;
- (n) ensuring the integrity of the company's accounting and financial reporting systems, including the independent audit;
- (o) identifying, monitoring and reporting regularly on the nonfinancial aspects relevant to the business of the company;
- (p) appointing and dismissal of CEO and management Board (if one is established), appointment and dismissal of management Board members and ensuring that succession is professionally planned in good time;

- (q) appointing a Company Secretary and in so doing, satisfy itself that the appointee is fit and proper and has the requisite attributes, experience and qualification to properly discharge his/her duties; and
- (r) determining the management's powers and responsibilities and monitoring their performance.
- The Board should actively seek information it requires from management and other sources, and to verify its reliability, adequacy and accuracy and be provided by management with all relevant and timely information the Board needs to enable it to perform its functions effectively.
- The Board should have access to the advice and services of the professional qualified Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for advising the Board on compliance with Board and AGM procedures, the law and relevant rules and regulations, and for ensuring that reliable and relevant information is provided to the Board and the AGM in a timely manner.
- (9) To perform their oversight functions effectively, Board members must bring an independent judgement to bear on issues of corporate strategy, performance, use of resources, appointments and standards of conduct.
- (10) If authority to make decisions on certain Board matters is delegated by the Board to any Board Committee or to Management, such delegation should be disclosed.
- (11) Exercise leadership, SOE, intellectual honesty, integrity and judgement in directing the Company so as to achieve sustainable prosperity for the Company.
- (12) The Board must act in the best interests of the company and shareholder.

- [13]As trustees of public assets, directors of SOEs have the added responsibility not only to safeguard public goods but also to ensure the long-term sustainability of their respective SOE.
- [14]The Board Directors should never permit a conflict of duties and interest and must disclose potential conflicts of interest to the Board at the earliest possible opportunity
- [15] The Board should ensure the integration and alignment of the risk management system with the corporate and operational objectives and also that risk management is undertaken as a part of normal business practice and not as a separate task at set times.

7 BOARD MEETINGS

- The Board should have its annual plan which provides for a number of meetings to be held, tentative agenda items and the form these will be held (e.g., personal presence required or teleconference). The agenda of Board meetings should be sent to all directors at least 3 to 5 working days in advance of the meeting, together with any relevant documentation, so that directors may have time to familiarise themselves with the agenda issues and accompanying documentation. Directors should attend Board meetings in person.
 - The CEO/MD should maintain a positive and ethical work [2] climate conducive to attracting, retaining and motivating a diverse group of top-quality employees at all levels of the company. In addition, it is incumbent on the CEO/MD to foster a corporate culture that promotes ethical practices, rejects corrupt practices, offers equal opportunities, individual integrity, and encourages meets social responsibility objectives and imperatives.

8 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

- The appropriate induction of directors contributes to ensuring that a Company maintains a well-informed and competent Board. It is vital therefore that a suitable induction program is in place which meets the specific needs of both the Company and the individual, and enables any new director to make the maximum contribution as quickly as possible. Although it is the responsibility of the Chairperson to ensure the relevance and quality of the program, the induction training itself should be delegated to the Company Secretary.
- (2) Newly appointed or elected Board Members should receive the necessary induction into his/her specific responsibilities, the SOE's strategic aims and corporate objectives, and the SOE's Corporate Governance, model code of business, managerial control systems and procedures.
- New directors appointed to the Board should be familiarised with the Company's operations, business model of the Company including risk profile of the business of Company, senior management and its business environment. They must also be made aware of their fiduciary duties and responsibilities and of the Board's and Chairperson's expectations.
- (4) The Chairperson should ensure that new directors receive a full, formal and tailored induction on joining the Board. As part of this, directors should avail themselves of opportunities to meet major shareholders.

- Directors should undertake the Directors Training Programme conducted by Capital Market Development Authority within six (6) months of appointment to the Board, if the Director has not participated one previous to the appointment to the Board.
- (6) The Chairperson should ensure that the directors continually update their skills and the knowledge and familiarity with the Company required to fulfil their role both on the Board and on Board committees. To function effectively, all directors need appropriate knowledge of the Company and access to its operations and staff.
- An essential element of the induction process must be to help and advise the director to recognise situations of potential conflict of interest before they arise. The director must be consciously aware of the situations that can lead to conflicts of interest, in order to be in a position to point them out to the Chairperson and Board at an early stage.

9 CODE OF CONDUCT

- (1) The Board shall lay down a code of conduct for all Board members and senior management of the company. The code of conduct shall be circulated and also posted on the website of the company.
- (2) All Board members and senior management personnel shall affirm compliance with the code on an annual basis. The Annual Report of the company shall contain a declaration to this effect signed by its CEO/MD.
- Guidelines and policies evolved by PCB and Ministry of Finance with respect to the structure, composition, selection, appointment and service conditions of Board of Directors and senior management

personnel shall be strictly followed.

There shall be no extravagance in expenditure on the part of Board members and senior management personnel.

10 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- Transactions between the Company and its Managers or Directors are sources of conflicts of interest.
- (2) The personal interests of a Director, or persons closely associated with the Director, must not take precedence over those of the company and its Shareholders, including minority Shareholders.
- A Director should make best efforts to avoid conflicts of interest or situations where others might reasonably perceive there to be a conflict of interest.
- [4] Full and timely disclosure (preferably in writing) of any conflict, or potential conflict, must be made known to the Board. In the case of banks, the regulator may set different disclosure provisions. The Board should develop a corporate code of conduct that specifically addresses conflicts of interest, particularly relating to Directors and Management, which should be regularly reviewed and updated as necessary.
- Where an actual or potential conflict does arise, on declaring their interest and ensuring that it is entered on the Register of Interests of the company, a Director can participate in the debate and/or indicate their vote on the matter, although such vote would not be counted. The Director must give careful consideration in such circumstances to the potential consequences it may have for the Board, Company and him.

11 BOARD'S EVALUATION

- (1) Companies must have controls in place to promote their continued survival and profitability. As this is a function of the Board, it makes sense for the performance of the Board and directors to be included in the monitoring and evaluation process.
- Effective and meaningful evaluation is only possible once the Board has determined its own functions identified the key roles and performance standards for Directors. Key roles for Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors would be different.
- There should be an annual evaluation of the Board's performance. The responsibility for the organisation of the annual evaluation should vest in the Board's Chairperson. External or independent experts may be used for the Board's evaluation. The Board should develop a policy and procedures for the annual evaluation.
- (4) Companies should confirm in their Annual Report that the Board's evaluation has taken place.
- (5) Compliance of Laws to be reviewed: The Board shall periodically review compliance reports of all laws applicable to the company, prepared by the company as well as steps taken by the company to rectify instances of non-compliances.
- Directors should be assessed both individually, and collectively as a Board by the PCB from time to time.

12 COMPANY SECRETARY

[1] Every company shall have a Company Secretary. It is the duty of the Board of Directors to see that the person appointed as the Company Secretary is competent to discharge the functions of Secretary of the Company.

- [2] Company Secretary must be endorsed by the Board.
- The Company Secretary is a full-time staff member, with impeccable reputation appointed by and accountable to the Board.
- The Company Secretary should be subjected to a fit and proper test laid down in the Companies Regulation.
- The Board determines the terms of references for the Company Secretary pursuant to the Companies Regulation and determines the remuneration of the Company Secretary.
- (6) The Responsibilities of the Company Secretary must include the responsibilities laid down in Section 12 of the Companies Regulation.
- The Company Secretary is in charge of the following functions:
 - (a) facilitating the efficient administration of Board meetings including their planning, calling, conducting and record-keeping consistent with the law, the securities market's regulations and with the Company's articles and by-laws;
 - (b) ensuring that the conduct of the general meetings is consistent with the law, the PCB regulations and with the Company's articles and by-laws;
 - (c) supporting effective Board administration and serving as liaison between the Directors and Management;
 - (d) providing the Board as a whole and directors individually with detailed guidance as to how their responsibilities should be properly discharged in the best interests of the company;
 - (e) assisting and advising the Chairperson of the Board and reporting to the Board on the company's compliance with the corporate governance requirements, this Code and other internal corporate rules and policies, the Company charter and

by-laws and any other relevant laws or regulations;

- (f) assisting the Board in reporting the Company's compliance with this Code of Corporate Governance in the Annual Report and on the Company's web site;
- (g) monitoring and arranging procedures for compliance with relevant regulatory and legal requirements, providing clarifications to the Board regarding the requirements of laws, this Code, rules of corporate conduct for the Company, charter and other legal acts, and introducing to newly elected Board members this Code and the legal acts regulating the company's corporate governance and provides any clarifications requested by the Board;
- (h) ensuring timely, accessible and accurate filing of corporate statutory records as required by the law (Board meeting minutes), PCB and by the company's articles and by-laws; and
- (i) the minutes of Board meetings shall be signed by the Company Secretary and the Company Secretary must ensure that the minutes are signed by the Board Directors present at the meeting.
- [8] The Company Secretary plays a key role in the application of corporate governance in a company.
- (9) The Company Secretary is the focal point of contact with a company for institutional and other shareholders.
- (10) The Company Secretary should ensure that the company complies with its constitution and all relevant statutory and regulatory requirements, codes of conduct and rules established by the Board.
- (11) The Company Secretary must send the Board Meeting attendance to PCB quarterly.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As stated above, the Board is the focal point of the corporate governance system and is ultimately accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Company. Delegating authority to Board committees or Management does not in any way discharge the Board from its duties and responsibilities. Board committees are a mechanism to assist the Board and its directors in discharging their duties through a more comprehensive evaluation of specific issues, followed by well-considered recommendations to the Board.

13 BOARD COMMITTEES

- (1) In establishing Board committees, the Board must determine their terms of reference, life span, role and function. The terms of reference for each committee should cover:
 - (a) objectives, purpose and activities;
 - (b) composition;
 - (c) delegated authorities including extent of power to make

decisions and/or recommendations;

- (d) tenure;
- (e) reporting mechanism to the Board; and
- (f) agreed procedure for seeking independent outside professional advice when necessary.
- (2) There should be transparency and full disclosure from the Board committees to the Board. However, time should not be wasted on repeating a committee's deliberations at Board level.
- Board committees should, as far as possible, only comprise members of the Board. The Audit Committee should be able to take independent (outside) professional advice when necessary, at the SOE's expense, and have an agreed procedure for doing so. It may be necessary, where certain Board committees fulfil a specialised role, to co-opt specialists as permanent members of such committees after getting approval from but this should be the exception rather than the rule and they should comprise a minority on the committee. Such co-opted persons should contract not to disclose confidential information.
- All companies should have, at a minimum, an audit committee.
- Board secretary should be present for each committee and minutes of each meeting should be recorded.
- (6) Minutes of each Board committee's meeting should be prepared, circulated, signed and archived, not later than the next committee's meeting.

14 BOARD COMMITTEES' OPERATIONS

- (1) All Board committees should function according to terms of references established by the Board and disclosed to shareholders. The terms of reference should include provisions regarding the quorum and voting procedures. The chairperson of each Board committee is in charge of reporting to the Board.
- (2) All Board committees have the right to:
 - (a) request documents, reports, explanations, and other relevant information from the officers, senior management, and employees of the company and its advisors;
 - (b) invite the company's officers, senior management, employees, and advisors, to their meetings as observers to question them, and seek explanations and clarifications;
 - (c) utilise the services of outside consultants, experts, and advisers committees need to have separate budgets;
 - (d) request special investigations as required, and utilise the services of independent experts in doing so; and
 - (e) perform any other duties as may be required by the Board within the scope of authority of the committee.
- Board committees shall meet and report to the Board on a regular basis, but not less than once every three months. Board committees shall make such report to the Board as soon as feasible after every meeting. The Board committee meetings should precede the regular Board meeting.

- Board committee's members shall:
 - (a) participate in the activities and work of the committee in which they are a member, and attend all meetings;
 - (b) keep abreast of the sectors of the committee's specific competence;
 - (c) inform the Board of any changes in their independent status or any conflict of interest regarding decisions to be made by the committee; and
 - (d) annually review and evaluate the performance of the committee and report to the Board.

15 AUDIT COMMITTEE

- The Board should have an Audit Committee empowered to oversee due diligence and control over the financial aspects of the company's operations and performance.
- (2) The Chairperson of the Audit Committee should be an independent Board member.
- (3) The Board of Directors, the internal and external auditors, and the Management should provide the Audit Committee with all relevant and timely information that the Committee needs to enable to perform its functions effectively.
- The audit committee reports to the Board, identifies any matters in respect of which it considers that action or improvement is needed, makes recommendations as to the steps to be taken and has the

following exclusive tasks and responsibilities:

- (a) to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and any announcements of the Company's financial performance, reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them, review and recommend for Board and shareholders' approval quarterly and annual statements;
- (b) to review the company's internal control, internal audit, compliance and risk management systems;
- (c) to oversee the activities of the internal auditors;
- (d) to receive and discuss the external auditor- Auditor General's report including any issues and recommendations raised by the external auditor on internal control weaknesses; and
- (e) where there is an increase in the company's capital by contribution other than in cash, it is desirable to appoint independent experts to value.

(5) Composition

- (a) Board Audit Committee composition should be based on the size of the Board: If the board consists of seven (7) Directors, Audit Committee should have 3 members and if the Board consists of five (5) Directors, Audit Committee should have 2 members
- (b) The chairperson of the Board should not be a member of the Audit Committee.
- (c) The CEO/MD should not be a member of the Audit Committee.
- (d) As far as possible, the Audit committee should comprise of Non-Executive, Independent Directors.

- (e) The Chairperson of the Audit Committee shall be an independent Non-Executive Director.
- (f) The Chairperson of the Audit Committee should have substantial accounting or financial experience.
- (6) It is desirable that the committee member whom the Board considers to have recent and relevant financial experience should have a professional qualification from one of the professional accountancy bodies. Experience of corporate financial matters is required. The availability of appropriate financial expertise will be particularly important where the company's activities involve specialised financial activities. At least one member of the Committee must be qualified in accounting. For this purpose, a board member with a professional qualification recognised by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) is only considered as "qualified in accounting".

[7] Terms of reference:

The Audit Committee should focus on:

- (a) the functioning of the internal control system;
- (b) the functioning of the internal audit department;
- (c) the risk areas of the Company's operations to be covered in the scope of the internal and external audits;
- (d) the reliability and accuracy of the financial information provided by management to the Board and other users of financial information;
- (e) whether the Company should continue to use the services of the current internal auditors;

- (f) any accounting or auditing concerns identified as a result of the internal or external audits;
- (g) the Company's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements with regard to financial matters;
- (h) the financial information to be published by the Board. However, this does not limit the statutory power of the Auditor General to publish audited information, including audited financial statement, about the company; and
- (i) Shareholders, on request, should be able to obtain a copy of the current terms of reference of the Audit Committee at the registered office of the company.

16 OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

- Boards may establish other Board committees that are responsive and relevant to the nature of the company's business depending on the size and nature of the business with the approval of PCB. It is the responsibility of the Board to consider the committees appropriate for its purposes. Other Board committees charged with specific tasks and responsibilities.
- State Owned Banks' Boards may also establish strategic planning and investment committees charged with specific tasks and responsibilities.
- (3) Other Board committees may be comprised of a majority of Non-Executive Directors, where at least one is independent. Only directors should be members of Board committees.
- (4) Other Board committees should be chaired by independent directors.

CHAPTER IV

OWNERSHIP FUNCTIONS OF THE GOVERNMENT AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE SOES

17 THE GOVERNMENT AS OWNER

By this, it is meant that the Government should act as the owner.

The Government should have an integrated, clear and a homogenous vision with regard to its ownership of SOEs. The state should act as an informed and active owner, ensuring that the governance of SOEs is carried out in a transparent and accountable manner, with a high degree of professionalism and effectiveness.

The Government, furthermore, should ensure the adoption of good practices of corporate governance in a manner that is grounded in transparency, responsibility and accountability, including the ways in which the Boards of Directors of these Companies are formed. Because there are often overlaps between the Government acting as the owner and its actions within its given responsibilities as a Government, this results in its intervention in the Companies' businesses and in its restricting their decision making process, which should belong to the elected or appointed Board of Directors under the supervision of their respective general assemblies. Consequently, there is an urgent need to separate the role of the Government as the owner and its role as the regulator and administrator, whose principles of corporate governance are delineated below:

- (1) Within the framework of its role as the owner, the State should determine its objectives and priorities clearly. Not only should the objectives not be limited to making profits and avoiding price distortions, they should also take into account some social aspects.
- The Government should build up a vision and adopt a balanced and stable policy that will familiarise the local community with the role of the Government as the owner as well as its objectives in an unambiguous manner.
- (3) The Government and SOEs should ensure that all shareholders are treated equitably. The Government's prime responsibilities include:
 - (a) being represented at the general shareholders meetings and exercising its vote;
 - (b) setting up reporting systems allowing regular monitoring and assessment of SOE performance;
 - (c) Setting and monitoring the implementation of broad mandates and objectives for SOEs, including financial targets, capital structure objectives and risk tolerance levels.

- (d) developing a disclosure policy for SOE's that identifies what information should be publicly disclosed, the appropriate channels for disclosure, and mechanisms for ensuring quality of information.
- (e) when permitted by the legal system and the government's level of ownership, maintaining continuous dialogue with external auditor, the Auditor General and specific state control organs; and
- (f) ensuring that remuneration schemes for SOE Board members foster the long term interest of the company and can attract and motivate qualified professionals.
- [4] Effective Corporate Governance in SOE's requires a clear delineation of the respective rights and responsibilities of the main constituent decision-making organs of the SOE.
- The Government bodies entrusted with the rights and responsibilities of ownership and supervision over a SOE have a fiduciary duty to exercise these rights and responsibilities in an accountable and transparent manner, in good faith and in the best interests of the SOE and the public.
- The objectives and role of the Minister of Finance and Treasury, responsible Minister and officials are to govern the SOE by ensuring that the Board of Directors and Management of the SOE achieve maximum returns and benefits for stakeholders and the public in line with Government policy and the SOE's Corporate Plans as agreed with the SOE's Board of Directors are adopted at the AGM.
- (7) Once the SOE's Corporate Plans are approved at the AGM, the SOE's Board of Directors and Management should automatically enjoy full operational independence in implementing the SOE's Corporate Plans. No variations to the approved Corporate Plans may be made

except through a Resolution at the AGM or EGM of the SOE.

- A statutory arms-length relationship between the Government on one hand, and the SOE's Board of Directors and Management on the other hand, should be instituted and safeguarded with a balance between the SOE's autonomy and its accountability to Government.
 - (9) PCB should institute a transparent and competitive procedure for the recruitment, and appointment of a balanced and professional Board of Directors comprising qualified and independent Non-Executive Directors.
- (10) The Board of Directors and Senior Management of the SOE should enjoy operational independence in the exercise of their mandated rights and responsibilities, as specified in the SOE's Corporate Charter and enabling legislation, in their implementation of the approved Corporate Plans and management of the SOE.
- (11) The Ministry of Finance and PCB and officials should institute an effective system for reviewing the strategic objectives, Corporate Plan, the Annual Plan and Budget of the SOE to be recommended and implemented by the SOE's Board of Directors in accordance with the AoA and MoA of the company.
- (12) PCB should institute a system of regular monitoring and reviewing the performance of the Board of Directors and the SOE. PCB should ensure that Annual Corporate and other Periodic Reports (e.g. half-yearly and quarterly reports), annual financial statements along with the audit report of the external auditor-the Auditor General- are submitted on a timely manner to them by the Board of Directors. These reports should be carefully reviewed and discussed at the Board of the SOE before they are approved by the AGM.

COMPETENCES OF GENERAL SHAREHOLDER'S MEETING AND SHAREHOLDER'S RIGHTS

The Shareholders (Government), as owners of the company, have defined property and information rights. They are entitled to sell their shares and share the profits of the company. In addition, they own a right to information about the company, primarily by participation in general shareholder meetings and by voting.

SOEs must be governed and managed in a way which makes it easy for people to understand and evaluate their performance, its objectives and the way profits are used. The Government should act as an informed and active owner and establish a clear and consistent ownership policy, ensuring that the governance of SOEs is carried out in a transparent and accountable manner, with the necessary degree of professionalism and effectiveness.

18 THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

- SOEs must request to the Shareholders prior to the AGM/EGM for the appointment of proxy and details of proxy appointed five (5) working days before the AGM/EGM.
 - An Annual General Meeting (AGM) should be held by the SOEs with the officials of the Ministry of Finance and PCB. The AGM should review, debate and approve the reports and recommendations of the Board including other matters reserved for the AGM as specified in the SOE's AoA.
- The AGM should be properly convened and conducted in line with best practice and the provisions contained in the SOE's AoA.
- Ministry of Finance and PCB should be provided in a timely manner with the agenda and all relevant information (including Financial Statements, the Report of the Auditor General and the Annual Corporate Report) on issues to be discussed and decided at the AGM.
- (3) Key issues on the capital structure, organisation, strategy, control and performance of the SOE and other matters reserved for the AGM should be decided by the AGM. These issues should include:
 - (a) approval of the strategic objectives, Corporate Plan, the Annual Plan and Budget, the Annual Corporate and other Reports submitted by the Board of Directors and Board Committees, the audit reports submitted by the Auditor General;
 - (b) the recommendations of the Board of Directors on declarations of dividend, the SOE's Resource Plan and employment and procurement policies;

- (c) capitalisation, major borrowings, mergers and acquisition or sale of substantial part of SOE assets and other extraordinary material transactions affecting the valuation and financial performance of the SOE and the interests of the Government and the public;
- (d) review of the SOEs legislated mandate and public policy objectives and the Boards recommendations to the Government on updating these to ensure its continued relevance; and
- (e) adoption of the SOE's Articles of Association, Memorandum of Association and other governance instruments and their amendments
- (6) There should be an open session of the AGM to allow the attendance of non-shareholding stakeholders as observers without decision-making or voting powers.

19 NOTICE AND AGENDA OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

- (1) Persons having the right to attend the AGM should be given at least fourteen (14) days' notice of the AGM. The notice shall specify the objects, venue, date, agenda and time of the meeting. Other information and related documents of the AGM should be made available to those who have the right to attend the AGM at least on the website of the Company and, in case of request, should also be sent out to those who have the right to attend the AGM.
- (2) Auditor General and his representatives should be invited to the AGM in his/her capacity as external auditor of the Company.

The agenda of the AGM should include the draft text of the resolutions to be voted on.

SUBMITTING AND ASKING QUESTIONS AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

- (1) The Board should be required to reply to the shareholders' questions at the AGM
- (2) Companies should provide shareholders the right to ask oral questions at an AGM and the Board should be required to provide answers to the questions posed. In the case of issues that cannot be answered during the AGM the response shall be sent to the shareholder in written form.

21 DIVIDEND POLICY

Ministry of Finance /PCB should adopt a dividend policy, including a pay-out ratio, which should be submitted to the AGM for approval and published on the Company's web-site.

22 OTHER MATTERS

SOEs must get approval from PCB for company structure, taking out loans, making investments and before payment of bonuses and other performance related incentives and rewards to the Management and employees.

CHAPTER VI

RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT

23 RISK MANAGEMENT

- (1) The Board is responsible for the total process of risk management and should ensure that the company develops and executes a comprehensive and robust system of risk management.
- (2) The process of risk management includes the systematic and continuous identification and evaluation of risks as they pertain to the organisation, followed by action to terminate, transfer, accept or mitigate each risk.

- The Board is responsible for the definition of the overall strategy for risk tolerance, to monitor management and the assurance process on risk management and to take corrective action where and when deemed necessary.
- The objective of risk management is not to completely eliminate risk but to reduce it to an acceptable level, having regards to the objective of the Company. Commercial SOE is the undertaking of risk for reward and where the Company accepts to tolerate risk, it should ensure that the risk is appropriately mitigated and commensurate with the measurable reward.
- The Board must communicate its risk management policies to Management and all other employees as appropriate to their roles within the organisation and must satisfy itself that communication has been effective and understood.
- (6) Management is accountable to the Board for the design, implementation and detailed monitoring of the risk management processes.
- Risk management should include the reporting, consideration and the taking of appropriate action on the risk exposure of the organisation in at least the following areas of risk: physical operational human resources technology business continuity financial compliance reputational.
- [8] In Companies exposed to significant risks, it may be appropriate that the Board constitutes a Board Risk Committee.
- (9) The role of the committee is to regularly advise the Board on the total process of risk management within the organisation and to support management in the continuous and ongoing management of risk.

24 INTERNAL CONTROL

- (1) The Board is responsible for the system of internal control and must set appropriate policies to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives are attained.
- (2) The Board must satisfy itself that the system of internal control is functioning effectively and that the system manages risk in the manner approved by the Board.
 - The boards of SOEs should develop, implement, monitor and communicate internal control system
- The SOE boards should fulfil their role of evaluating management performance. This activity should cover the achievement of financial and operational results, as well as the success of implementing board strategy, establishing effective internal controls and risk environment, and ensuring the accuracy and integrity of financial statements.
- (5) The Board should also ensure that the SOEs have adequate internal controls and that effective internal and external audits are overseen by a capable audit committee.
- (6) Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the internal control system.
- (7) The Board should also ensure that, as part of its internal control procedure, the company has an effective mechanism in place which facilitates and encourages the reporting of any lack of, or breach of internal controls and any unethical or irregular behaviour concerning the company.
- (8) Directors are responsible for adequate accounting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems.

- (9) Directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts which fairly present the state of affairs of the company and the results of its operations and which comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
- The Directors are responsible for selection of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements.

25 INTERNAL AUDIT

- (1) Companies should set up an internal audit function to provide an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation's operations. The internal audit helps the company in accomplishing its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.
- [2] Internal audit function should be nominated by the Audit Committee and appointed by the Board.
- (3) SOEs should develop efficient internal audit procedures and establish an internal audit function that is monitored by and reports directly to the board and to the audit committee or the equivalent corporate organ.
 - (4) All SOEs should have internal auditors; and to ensure their objectivity and ability to provide key information to the board, they should report directly to the audit committee or if there is no audit committee, then directly to the board.

- [5] The authority, responsibilities and the position of internal audit should be detailed in an Internal Audit Charter and should be approved by the Chairperson of the audit committee. Such a charter, amongst others, should incorporate the provisions stated in this section of the Code.
- [6] Internal auditor should have the following functions:
 - (a) reviews adequacy of internal controls;
 - (b) reviews implementation of internal controls;
 - (c) periodically audits business operations;
 - (d) implements the annual work plan for internal audit with a fixed plan of activities but also allowing for appropriate investigation time for matters that emerge over the year;
 - (e) responds to matters that emerge from appropriate referring bodies (the Board of Directors, CEO and other senior management);
 - (f) assists the Board with establishing ethics policy and whistle blowing procedures;
 - (g) periodically reviews and recommends updates in corporate accounting policies and procedures framework;
 - (h) coordinates audit operations with activities of the External Auditor- the Auditor General: and
 - (i) ensures follow-up mechanism to determine if audit recommendations (both internal and external) are implemented within appropriate and agreed timetable.
- [7] Companies should have an effective internal audit function that has the respect, confidence and co-operation of both the Board

and Management. Where the Board, at its discretion, decides not to establish an internal audit function, full reasons must be disclosed in the company's annual report, with an explanation as to how assurance of effective internal controls, processes and systems are obtained without the function.

- (8) The external auditor- the Auditor General- or a one (a firm) who works on behalf of the Auditor General should not provide internal audit services to the company.
- (9) The Board of a company which does not have an internal audit function should review, at least annually, the need for one.
- (10) The Board may delegate the responsibility for managing the internal audit function and for receiving internal audit reports to the audit committee.
- (11) The internal audit function is responsible for providing assurance to the Board regarding the implementation, operation and effectiveness of internal control and risk management. It is not responsible for the implementation of controls or the management and mitigation of risk, responsibility for which remains with the Board and operational management.
- (12) The head of internal audit should have an appropriate professional qualification and experience in internal auditing. As such professional qualification of Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and IFAC- recognised professional accountancy qualifications are considered relevant qualifications. However, due to scarcity of professionally qualified internal auditors at the time this Code comes into effect SOEs should recruit a person for the post of head of internal audit with a reasonable academic qualification and experience. Nonetheless, completing an aforesaid professional qualification within a reasonable time should be made as a requirement for him/her to remain on their job.
- [13] Internal audit should report to a level within the company that

allows this vital function to fully accomplish its responsibilities. As such it should report to the audit committee at the Board all its reports, whilst administratively, it can report its findings to the CEO/MD for the purpose of implementing recommendations for improvements. The head of internal audit should have ready and regular access to the chairperson of the company and the chairperson of the audit committee.

- The internal audit function should be resourced properly. As such the audit committee should ensure deployment of sufficient and appropriate human resources in the function. Audit committee should also ensure appropriate training and development opportunities are provided to the internal audit staff annually. For this, annual training budget of internal audit once passed by the Audit Committee is considered final.
- (15) The appointment or dismissal of the head of the internal audit should only be done by the agreement of majority of members in the audit committee.
- (16) Companies should aspire to efficient audit processes using external auditors in combination with the internal audit function.
- (17) Management should encourage consultation between internal and external auditors. Co-ordination of efforts involves periodic meetings to discuss matters of mutual interest, the management letters and reports, and sharing common understanding of audit techniques, methods and terminology.
- (18) Auditors should observe the highest standards of business and professional ethics and in particular their independence should not be impaired in any way. As such all the internal auditors in the Company or the internal audit team of the firm that provides internal audit service to the Company (in case any internal audit work is outsourced) should sign Code of Ethics for internal auditors published by Institute of Internal Auditors, Global.

26 EXTERNAL AUDITOR

(1) External Auditor is the Auditor General or any person or body appointed by the Auditor General.

27 CODE OF ETHICS

- The Board should develop a code of ethics, with clear policies and procedures for Directors, Management and employees on issues such as: use of confidential information; corporate values; business behaviour; relationship with governments and officials; relationship with competitors; 'whistleblowing' arrangements; use and care of the company's property; use of "insider" information; disclosure of potential conflicts of interest; handling of external gifts; observance of laws and regulations; working relations between employees; reporting of breaches of the code of ethics and protecting the confidentiality of such reporting; behaviour towards stakeholders.
- (2) The Company shall appoint an officer responsible for developing, implementing and communicating programmes of compliance with ethical standards.
 - Every Company should adopt a code of ethics which sets out clear corporate values and standards of behaviour in its dealings.
- (4) When adopting a code of ethics the company should primarily address issues relating to ethical practices of relevance to the particular circumstances of its business environment, including the practical application of its corporate values and the concepts

of honesty and integrity. The code should make clear what is acceptable and unacceptable practice and should be easily communicable to all stakeholders, especially the Company's officers and employees who will rely on it to guide them in their dealings.

- The code of ethics should refer to the principles, norms and (5)standards that the Company wants to promote and integrate within its corporate culture that determines the conduct of its activities, including internal relations, interaction and dealings with external stakeholders
- [6] In the formulation of its code of ethics, a Company should consider the specific circumstances and identify risk areas within the particular industry in which it operates. Where necessary, reference should be made to relevant laws and regulations that apply to the Company's activities and services.
- Companies should monitor and evaluate compliance with established ethical principles and standards on a regular basis. They should, when necessary, reconsider the nature of their relationship with stakeholders in terms of ethical consequences.
- (8) A Company should promote awareness, both internally and externally and emphasise the importance for the reputation of the company of adherence to exemplary standards of conduct and ethical practice.

28 CODE OF CONDUCT

11 The Board shall lay down a code of conduct for all Board members and senior management of the Company. The code of conduct shall be circulated and also posted on the website of the Company.

- (2) All Board members and senior management personnel shall affirm compliance with the code on an annual basis. The Annual Report of the company shall contain a declaration to this effect signed by its CEO/MD.
- Guidelines and policies evolved by the PCB/Ministry of Finance with respect to the structure, composition, selection, appointment and service conditions of Boards of Directors and senior management personnel shall be strictly followed.
- There shall be no extravagance in expenditure on the part of Board members and senior management personnel. SOEs Senior Management shall be accountable for their performance in conformity with established norms of conduct.
- Any external/ internal changes made from time to time, due to addition of or amendment to laws/regulatory rules, applicable to SOEs, need to be dealt with carefully by the respective Boards/ senior management personnel.

CHAPTER VII

INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

- (1) Every company should recognise that it operates within a social and economic community, and should identify the particular circumstances, whether environmental or social, relevant to the company's business. It is in the long-term economic interest of a company to conduct itself as a "responsible corporate citizen", and to act in a manner which is non-exploitative, non-discriminatory and respectful of human rights. Failure to adopt such policies may well hinder its development and participation in an international context which is increasingly sensitive to sound corporate values, good practice and respect for the environment.
 - Every company should regularly (at least annually) report to its stakeholders on its policies and practices as regards:
 - (a) ethics;
 - (b) environment;
 - (c) health and safety; and
 - (d) social issues;

29 ENVIRONMENT

Economic activities can have a profound impact on the environment, especially in Maldives which is a small, densely populated, and geographically isolated island. Environmental issues are therefore vital to the economy in Maldives and companies must not only be aware of the importance of these issues but should also be actively involved in managing their activities so as to minimise any negative impact on the environment.

30 HEALTH AND SAFETY

- SOEs should develop and implement safety, health and environment policies and practices to at least comply with existing legislative and regulatory frameworks.
- (2) SOEs should undertake health and safety risk identification and assessments leading to sound risk management strategies within the company's particular field of activity.

31 SOCIAL ISSUES

- (1) SOEs in Maldives play an important role in sustaining social harmony, especially through their employment policies and their ownership structure.
- (2) It is essential that SOEs practice and are seen to practice fair policies in recruitment and promotion. Procedures which are both transparent and based on merit should be adopted by them.

CHAPTER VIII

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

The OECD Principles recommend that "The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including the financial situation, performance, ownership, and governance of the company."

The cornerstone of a disclosure policy is the publication of a comprehensive Annual Report, including Annual Accounts with a report from independent external auditors – the Auditor General. Companies are also encouraged to make use of their website for disclosure of key corporate governance information.

Communicating on operational and day-to-day matters is a management task. However, Boards should consistently and transparently address the Shareholders and other Stakeholders on matters of material interest.

REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE

(1) The Board shall ensure that any report delivered as an annual report includes, or has appended to it, a statement which acknowledges

the directors' responsibilities for internal control and describes the methods by which this responsibility is discharged.

- (2) This "Statement of Directors' Responsibilities" shall be signed by two or more Directors as representatives of the Board.
- The disclosure of the methods used by the Board to discharge its responsibility for internal control must, as a minimum, include a description of the following:
 - (a) the systems and processes in place for implementing, maintaining and monitoring of the internal controls;
 - (b) the process by which the Board derives assurance that the internal control systems are effective;
 - (c) the existence or otherwise of an internal audit function, and for companies where no internal audit function exists, the frequency of reviews for the need to establish one and the date of the last such review;
 - (d) any significant enterprise areas not covered by the internal controls including joint ventures, subsidiaries or associates; and
 - (e) the process applied to any material problems disclosed in the annual report or financial statements.
- [4] It is the responsibility of the Board to make disclosure as regards risk management. The statement on the risk management processes shall, as a minimum, include the following:
 - (a) the structures and process in place for the identification and management of risk;
 - (b) the methods by which internal control and risk management are integrated together;

- (c) the methods by which the directors derive assurance that the risk management processes are in place and are effective; and
- (d) a brief description of each of the key risks identified by the company and the way in which each of these key risks is managed.
- (5) Where the Board cannot make any of the disclosures required above in relation to internal control or risk management, it must state this fact and provide a suitable explanation.

33 ANNUAL REPORT

- (1) Companies should prepare and present for shareholders' approval an Annual Report.
 - (2) Annual reports should present a comprehensive and objective assessment of the activities of the Company so that all Stakeholders can obtain a full and fair view of its performance.
- (3) The Annual Report should include:
 - (a) financial reports prepared in accordance with IFRS; if there has been any departure in the interest of fair presentation, this must not only be disclosed and explained but quantified;
 - (b) information for the Company's Stakeholders, which enables them to assess the Company's contribution to securing economic stability, social welfare and environmental safety.

- (c) external auditor's conclusion;
- (d) list of the Company's Shareholders;
- (e) reference to the Company's web site where the Company's code of ethics is posted;
- (f) Corporate Governance Statement. The Statement shall evidence the Company's compliance with this Code of Corporate Governance. The Statement shall also include the Company's report with detailed explanations in case of any deviance from this Code of Corporate Governance;
- (g) list of Company's related parties and list of related party transactions where the value of the transaction exceeds 2% of the company's total assets. In particular, the Annual Report shall:
 - Provide the definition of related parties; Describe the relationships between parents and subsidiaries;
 - Describe what proportion of the Company's transactions involve related parties;
 - Provide information regarding related party transactions separately for each category of related parties;
 - State fairness of the terms and conditions of a related party transaction; Specify the absence of related party transactions;
 - Describe the company's policies and procedures for the review, approval, or ratification of any transaction required to be reported.
- (h) names and brief bios of Directors, including names of Directors considered independent, those resigning or removed during the year, together with the remuneration of all Directors who served during the year and records of their attendance at Board meetings;
- (i) name and remuneration of external auditors and disclosure

of the results of the test of the auditor's independence;

- (j) description of the Company's structure, including subsidiaries, branches and parent Companies and cross-shareholdings with other group or affiliated Companies;
- (k) Directors' Report summarising the performance for the past year, risk factors, prospects for the coming year, company strategy, major transactions during the year, any major changes in the business undertaken by the Company, explanations of major changes in financial performance in comparison with the preceding year, proposed allocation and distribution of profits, including proposed dividend;
- (I) compensation of Directors and Senior Management (including the CEO/MD and Chief Accountant/Chief Financial Officer); and
- (m) list of number and class and classes of shares issued and summary of rights for each class of shareholders.
- (4) Companies should send an Annual Report including the consolidated income statements and balance sheets of the Company signed by the Board Chairperson, CEO and CFO to certify the fair and true presentation of the accounts to PCB and the Shareholders.

34 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

There should be a separate corporate governance section in the annual report. The Corporate governance report must include how much the Company has complied with this code or if there is any deviation from the code, the Company must state the reason for the deviation and justify it.

35 COMPANY'S WEB SITE

- (1) Companies should have a web site accessible to all stakeholders for the disclosures required in this Code of Corporate Governance. The web site should be updated regularly, to ensure that required disclosure of information is done so, in a timely manner. Documents and information posted on the web site should be available in Dhivehi and if possible in English also.
 - (2) All documents to be discussed at the Annual General Meeting should be posted on the Company's web site and be available to the public by the end of the second quarter.
- (3) The Company's web site should include a section dedicated to corporate governance which is regularly updated. This section should include:
 - (a) the Company's Act, inclusive of all amendments in force and the AoA and MoA of the Company;
 - (b) terms of reference for all Directors;
 - (c) a profile of every Director, describing their educational qualification and experience;
 - (d) terms of reference for the Board(s), Board committees and corporate secretary;
 - (e) the Company's policy on annual evaluation of the Board;
 - (f) the minutes of the Annual General Meeting for the previous 5 years;

- (g) the approved dividend policy;
- (h) the Company's identified Stakeholders and its policies for dealing with those Stakeholders;
- (i) The Corporate Governance Statements for the last 3 years;
- (j) the Company's structure and cross-shareholdings; The Annual Reports for the past three years; and
- (k) at least (3) three basic financial statements Semi-annually or Quarterly.
- The disclosure should include any areas of Owner's decision making over the SOE's operations that are not delegated to the Board and on whether the SOE is subject to any specific regulatory oversight and how this oversight is exercised.
- (5) The SOE website should include information on performance criteria to be followed by the Board and any relevant information for stakeholders.

36 DISCLOSURE BY THE GOVERNMENT

- (1) The identity of the Government entity exercising ownership of the SOE and the shareholding directly or indirectly belonging to the Government should be disclosed in the Annual Report and on the SOE web site.
- (2) The disclosure in the Annual Report of related party transactions should include disclosures of any financial assistance, received

from the Government and commitments made on behalf of the SOE, any Government aid, subsidies or grants of which the SOE has been a recipient and any business relations that may exist between the SOE and other companies.

(3) Loans to Directors, Shareholders, Senior Management, auditors, company lawyers or any other person who has access to confidential information on the SOEs activities, should not be authorised. If there are any such loans, they should be clearly disclosed in the Annual Report.

37 FUNDING

Charitable Donations: It is the responsibility of the Board to decide whether the company should make any charitable donations. In the event of the company making any such donations, the aggregate amount should be declared in the annual report.

CHAPTER IX

STAKEHOLDERS

The OECD Principles state that "corporate governance framework should recognise the rights of stakeholders established by law or through mutual agreements and encourage active co-operation between corporations and stakeholders in creating wealth, jobs, and the sustainability of financially sound SOEs".

The competitiveness and ultimate success of a Company is the result of teamwork that embodies contributions from a range of different resource providers including investors, employees, creditors, and suppliers.

Thus, it is best practice for the Boards to consider the implication of their decisions on the various Stakeholders as an integral part of the decision-making process.

38 CONSIDERING STAKEHOLDERS' INTERESTS

(1) The Board should take account of the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders in its decision making in the best

interests of the Company.

The state ownership policy should fully recognise the state-owned enterprise's responsibilities towards stakeholders and request that they report on their relations with stakeholders.

39 IDENTIFICATION OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Board should ensure that the Company identifies the stakeholders that are relevant to its operations

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR DEALING WITH STAKEHOLDERS

- (1) The Board should define relevant policies and procedures on the handling of the Company's relationships with its defined stakeholders. For example, this might include a policy for relations with suppliers that includes payment terms, or an environmental policy that includes the handling of waste.
- (2) The stakeholder policies and procedures including implementation report and applied standards should be disclosed on the Company's web site.
- (3) The Board should annually disclose in the implementation report the nature of the Company's dealings with stakeholders and the outcomes of these dealings.

41 ACCESS TO COMPANY'S INFORMATION

Stakeholders should have access to company's Annual Reports, corporate governance and related documents via company's website.

42 INTERACTION WITH COMPANY'S STAKEHOLDERS

- [1] The company's reputation and its linkage with Stakeholder relationships should be a regular Board agenda item.
- [2] The Board should consider interaction with the Company's Stakeholders.







